DOCUMENT RESURB

BD 149 180 08 CE 014 689

AUTHOR Seaman, Donald F.

TITLE Adult Education Teaching Techniques. Information

Series No. 110.

INSTITUTION Ohio State Univ., Columbus. ERIC Clearinghouse on

Career Education.

SPONS AGENCY National Inst. of Education (DHEW), Washington,

D.C.

PUB DATE 77

CONTRACT 400-76-0122

NOTE 55p.

AVAILABLE FROM National Center for Research in Vocational Education Publications, Ohio State University, 1960 Kenny Road,

Columbus, Ohio 43210 (IN 110, \$3.80, quantity and

series discounts available)

EDRS PRICE MF-\$0.83 HC-\$3.50 Plus Fostage.

DESCRIPTORS *Adult Education; Adult Educators; Educational Needs;

*Educational Research; Educational Strategies; Educational Technology; *Instructional Materials; Instructional Media; *Literature Reviews; Mass Media;

Multimedia Instruction; Program Effectiveness;

Research Needs; State of the Art Reviews; *Teaching

Methods: *Teaching Techniques

ABSTRACT

Review and synthesis of research on effective techniques for teaching adults at different educational and occupational levels is presented in this information analysis paper intended for local adult continuing education directors and teachers of adults in education, industry, and government. The operational framework of the review is based on Verner's classifications and definitions of the terms adult education, method, technique, and device. Activities regarded as techniques by the literature in adult education are presented and discussed in althabetical order. Where appropriate, devices are included in the discussion. Teaching techniques reviewed are the following: trainstorming, case study, correspondence study, critical incident, demonstration, exhibit, field trip forum, group discussion, independent study, individualized instruction, lecture, microteaching, newsletters, panel, programmed instruction, role playing, self-instructional modules, simulation, skit, symposium, telelecture, and tutorial. Certain media with a unique nature of special impact potential are discussed in the section on influence of media (multimedia and mass media). Conclusions are made based on data presented in the review section. The section on research priorities for the future contains suggestions regarding the development of a research base for identifying, selecting, and applying adult education teaching techniques. (TA)

ADULT EDUCATION TEACHING TECHNIQUES

written by

Donald F. Seaman

Texas A. & M. University

The ERIC Clearinghouse on Career Education
The Center for Vocational Education
The Ohio State University
1960 Kenny Road
Columbus, Ohio

U S DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH. EQUCATION & WELFARE NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF EDUCATION

1977

THIS OOCUMENT HAS BEEN REPRO-OUCED EXACTLY AS RECE VED FROM THE PERSON OR ORGANIZA I ION ORIGIN-ATING IT POINTS OF VIEW OR OPINIONS STATED DO NOT NECESSARILY REPRE-SENT OFFICIAL NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF EDUCATION POSITION OR POLICY

This publication was developed under Contract Number NIE-C-400-76-0122 with funds provided by the National Institute of Education, Department of Health, Education, and Welfare. Contractors undertaking such projects under government sponsorship are encouraged to express freely their judgment in professional and technical matters. Points of view or opinions do not, however, necessarily represent official views or opinions of the National Institute of Education.



FOREWORD

The Educational Resources Information Center on Career Education (ERIC/CE) is one of sixteen clearinghouses in a nationwide information system that is funded by the National Institute of Education. The scope of work for ERIC/CE includes the fields of adult-continuing, career, and vocational-technical education. One of the functions of the Clearinghouse is to interpret the literature that is related to each of these fields. This paper on adult education teaching techniques should be of particular interest to local adult continuing education directors and teachers of adults in education, business and industry.

The profession is indebted to Donald F. Seaman, Texas A. & M. University, for his scholarship in the preparation of this paper. Recognition is also due Robert Arceneaux, Lafayette Parish School Board, and William Ashley, The Ohio State University, for their critical review of the manuscript prior to its final revision and publication. Allen B. Moore, Adult Education Specialist at the ERIC Clearinghouse on Career Education, supervised the publication's development. Madelon Plaisted and Jo-Ann Cherry coordinated the production of the paper for publication.

Robert E. Taylor Executive Director The Center for Vocational Education



-iii-

ABSTRACT

Review and synthesis of research on effective techniques for teaching adults at different educational and occupational levels is presented in this information analysis paper intended for local adult continuing education directors and teachers of adults in education, industry, and The operational framework of the review is based on Verner's classifications and definitions of the terms adult education, method, technique, and device. Activities regarded as techniques by the literature in adult education are presented and discussed in alphabetical order. Where appropriate, devices are included in the discussion. Teaching techniques reviewed are the following: Brainstorming, case study, correspondence study, critical incident, demonstration, exhibit, field trip forum, group discussion, independent study, individualized instruction, lecture, microteaching, newsletters, panel, programmed instruction, role playing, self-instructional modules. simulation, skit, symposium, telelecture, and tutorial. Certain media with a unique nature of special impact potential are discussed in the section on influence of media (multimedia and mass media). Conclusions are made based on data presented in the review section. The section on research priorities for the future contains suggestions regarding the development of a research base for identifying, selecting, and applying adult education teaching techniques. (TA)

DESC::*Teaching Techniques; *Adult Education; Adult Educators;
*Educational Research; *Teaching Methods; Instructional Media;
Mass Media; Multimedia Instruction; Educational Technology;
*Instructional Materials; Educational Strategies; *Research Reviews;
State of the Art Reviews; Research Needs; Educational Needs; Program Effectiveness



CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	i
STATEMENT OF THE PROBLEM	2
CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK AND DEFINITIONS	3
TEACHING TECHNIQUES	. 6
BRAINSTORMING	6
CASE STUDY	7
CORRESPONDENCE STUDY	8
CRITICAL INCIDENT	10
DEMONSTRATION	10
EXHIBIT	12
FIELD TRIP (OR TOUR)	12
FORUM	13
GROUP DISCUSSION	14
INDEPENDENT STUDY	15
INDIVIDUALIZED INSTRUCTION	16
LECTURE	17



MICROTEACHING	19
NEWSLETTERS	20
PANEL	20
PROGRAMMED INSTRUCTION	21
ROLE-PLAYING	22
SELF-INSTRUCTIONAL MODULES	23
SIMULATION	24
SKIT	26
SYMPOSIUM	26
TELELECTURE	27
TUTORIAL	28
INFLUENCE OF MEDIA	. 29
MULTI-MEDIA	29
MASS MEDIA	30
SYNTHESIS	31
RESEARCH PRIORITIES FOR THE FUTURE	34
REFERENCES	37



INTRODUCTION

Give me a fish and I eat for a day. Teach me to fish and I eat for a lifetime.

Babylonian Talmud

The above quote, often used in adult education, is relevant to society today, in spite of its ancient origin. The rapid growth of knowledge, increasing technology, and the constancy of change have created a situation where "cradle-to-the-grave" learning has become mandatory for every individual. In the past several years, much attention has been given to adult literacy, adult basic education, and high school equivalency programs throughout the United States and many foreign countries. The rationale given for this emphasis has been the attempt to "eliminate illiteracy in our time." However, the inability to read and write at a given level is no longer adequate to define illiteracy. To paraphrase Toffler (1970), tomorrow's illiterate will not be the person who can't read, but the person who has not learned how to learn.

Learning how to learn, regardless of its importance, is not a simple task, nor always an appealing one. Many adults have found the transition from learning 'content" to learning "procedures" somewhat difficult, although once they master this new approach to learning, they seem to enjoy it more. However, the rapidly emerging field of adult education still faces many problems. For example, there are indications that over fifty million adults in 1974 participated in some form of organized educational activity (Morgan, Holmes, and Bundy, 1976). It is likely that this number will contine to rise, creating even greater demands for quality education, which depends on effective instructional techniques. Just what are good instructional techniques? Which are most effective, if indeed that can be determined? This paper is an attempt to answer these and other related questions.



It is hoped that a review of the research and literature on techniques for teaching adults will provide useful data, not only for those individuals engaged in teaching but also for those primarily engaged in planning, development, and research activities. The knowledge of effective teaching techniques should be useful to practitioners in a variety of learning situations. Most important, it is hoped that this review will assist adult educators to avoid the situation described by Rubin (1973), noting:

. . .great defects in the present climate of learning. Drudgery is taken for granted, boredom is viewed as a necessary evil, our methods of motivating the learner are counterfeit, spontaneity has become something of a lost cause, and knowledge itself is packaged in a grossly unappetizing form. (p. 29)

STATEMENT OF THE PROBLEM

Few people need reminded that the education scene in America has been changing rapidly during the past decade. Of the many trends, two have related especially to the older population—the expanding awareness among adults of the value of and necessity for learning throughout their lifetimes, and the realization that it is not necessary for learning to occur in the classroom, but that it can occur in a variety of "nontraditional" settings (Carp, 1973 p. 1).

As the number of adults participating in educational activities has increased, particularly in the last ten to fifteen years, educators, soon noticed that adults have different characteristics and motivations than pre-adults. Although numerous publications have described many unique characteristics of the adult learner, the following characteristics seem to be most important:

- 1. A wide range of ages, spanning decades, may be present in one group of learners.
- 2. The adult enters into the learning environment with a definite, important purpose.
- The adult's learning needs are immediate--the concept of "delayed gratification" usually has no relevance.



- 4. An adult is often faced with the task of "unlearning" previously learned material which, at one time, may have been very important and meaningful--for example, the U.S. standards of weights and measures vs. the metric system.
- 5. The pressures of living--for example, family, work, health, pride, etc.--often rrovide formidable barriers and obstacles which discourage participation in learning activities.

In addition, the reasons why adults become involved in learning are numerous and varied. In *Helping Adults Learn* (1974) Allen Knox cites the following reasons (p. 18):

- To achieve a personal occupational goal (new job, job improvement).
- To achieve another type of personal goal (gain attention, prestige).
- 3. To reach a social goal (help children with studies).
- 4. To reach a religious goal (understand doctrine).
- 5. To understand (satisfy curiosity).
- 6. To participate in a social activity.
- 7. To pursue personal fulfillment.
- 8. To meet formal requirements (examination, certification).
- 9. To escape (troubled household).

Adult educators must understand both the characteristics and motivations of adult learners in order to select teaching techniques that suit the learner's needs.

CONCEPTUAL FRAMFWORK AND DEFINITIONS

If any professional field has ever been plagued by developmental confusion, it is adult education. Recognized leaders often disagree about the major concepts and ideas important in the field, and two national associations compete to "speak" for the profession. This confusion is confounded by a growing army of "instant" adult



educators, who have had neither professional training nor experience in the field, but who, as a result of participating in a workshop or perhaps one graduate course, or because they have provided leadership to some adults in a learning activity, now suddenly emerge as experts with most, if not all, the answers.

The area of "teaching" in adult education is no exception. The major publications that relate to teaching adults offer little if any remedy or solution to this problem. For example, Bergevin, Morris, and Smith (1963, p. 4) described teaching in terms of "procedures" and "patterns"; Miller (1964, p. 85) emphasized "teaching styles"; Morgan et al. (1976, p. 65) interrelated methods and types of meetings, whereas Carpenter (1967, p. 3) did not even bother to differentiate between methods and techniques. Verner (1962, p. 9) included all teaching activities under the term "processes," but he did develop a conceptual scheme for classifying those processes and later refined this scheme in a publication by the Adult Education Association of the U.S.A. (Verner, 1964, p. 6). For the purpose of this review, Verner's classification and definitions have been selected primarily because they include many common properties reflected in other adult education publications and provide a logical order by which new concepts or ideas might be derived or "synthesized." The definitions used to establish the basic operational framework for this review are presented below (Verner, 1962, p. 9; 1964, p. 37).

- 1. Adult Education. "Adult education, then, includes any educational activity for adults through which opportunities for systematic learning are provided under the supervision of an educational agent." Thus, the learning which would occur would be purposeful, guided learning and not random learning which may occur through reading a newspaper or from watching television.
- 2. Method. "Method may be defined as the relationship established by the institution with a potential body of participants for the purpose of systematically diffusing knowledge among a prescribed but not necessarily fully identified public." Method, then, refers to the type of meeting, or environmental situation, in which the learners will be organized, particularly if their numbers are large.
- 3. Technique. "Techniques are identified with respect to their utility in facilitating learning. . . The selection of techniques is a matter of concern to the individual agent (adult educator) who is managing the specific educational program and is therefore an operational rather than an administrative decision." It is through the specifically selected techniques

that the adult learner is actively involved in the learning process and, hopefully, stimulated to continue learning through future endeavors.

4. Device. "Various mechanical instruments, audiovisual aids, physical arrangements, and materials are used by adult educators to augment the (techniques) employed. . . They are designated as devices to differentiate them from other educational processes." In other words, although these mechanical devices may greatly enhance the effectiveness of a technique, they cannot function independently on their own.

The most difficult aspect of this review was ascertaining the relationship between techniques and devices. In some cases, devices such as projectors, charts, and chalkboards are used to augment the technique which the adult educator has selected. However, the classification of those phenomena called media, such as radio or television, is not so easy. Some would argue that, indeed, television can function independently, so long as someone is arour to change the tapes. Therefore, for this paper, following the definitions as previously set forth, the following approach has been used:

- 1. Those activities generally regarded as "techniques" by the literature in adult education have been presented and discussed in alphabetical order. When deemed appropriate, devices have been included in the discussions of various techniques.
- 2. Because of their unique nature or special impact potential, certain media have been given a limited amount of special attention. It was felt that the presentation of those data would enhance this paper and would also allow the reader to acquire knowledge that might otherwise be omitted or which would remain unknown. Any information which may enable the reader to become a better adult educator through further knowledge about teaching techniques was considered appropriate in this research and literature review. The data have been included in the section "Influence of Media."

TEACHING TECHNIQUES

Teaching may be compared to selling commodities. No one can sell unless someone buys. We should ridicule a merciant who said that he has sold a great many goods although no one has bought any. But perhaps there are teachers who think they have done a good day's teaching irrespective of what pupils have learned (Miller, 1964, p. 85).

In the minds of many people, teaching has not occurred unless the student has learned. Therefore, the techniques presented in this paper have been discussed, for the most part, in terms of how they might affect a change in one's thinking, feeling, or behaving that could be attributed to one's having learned. For some techniques discussed in the literature related to teaching adults (for example Bergevin et al., 1963; Miller, 1964; Morgan et al., 1976) there are no research studies available concerning the evaluation of the techniques themselves. Since omitting them from this chapter might give the reader the impression that I did not consider them techniques, they have been included with a synopsis of the discussion about them found in the available literature.

BRAINSTORMING

Although brainstorming is the most commonly used term, this technique is also referred to as idea inventory, ideation, and imagineering (Morgan et al., 1976, p. 139; Bergevin, 1963, p. 195). Brainstorming is used primarily when a spontaneous and "free-wheeling" outpuring of ideas related to an area of interest or need is desired. Participants, alone or in small groups, are encouraged to employ creative initiative and thinking in voicing their ideas. No response, regardless of how useless or impractical it seems, is omitted from the original list which is derived from this technique. Brainstorming can be used to foster creativity, to elicit participation from persons who are usually afraid to express their ideas, and to improve individuals' ability to make original responses to stimuli (Miller, 1964).

Wolf and Wolf (1976, p. 207) also found brainstorming effective to identify the needs, expectations, and concerns of participants in a preretirement seminar. "It provided a thorough but efficient means of eliciting needed information from the group." Morgan et al., (1976) have found that business and industry have built up long lists



of creative ideas while improving communication and morale among employees by developing brainstormers within the organization.

In spite of its popularity and usefulness, the reader is also cautioned that brainstorming is time-consuming, and its productivity is somewhat limited to the abilities of the participants (Morgan et al., 1976). In addition, it is not known whether more original ideas are produced in groups or by individuals using this technique (Miller, 1964).

CASE STUDY

The case study, or case history, has been implemented with more variety and experimentation than most teaching techniques. It is a presentation, either written or taped, which describes an event or situation which is to be analyzed for various purposes, such as problem-solving, presenting issues, or interpreting behavior. Sparks (1976) indicates that this technique can be used effectively to resolve conflict in actual or fictitious situations when the case study is the focal point of discussion. Carter (1974) also cites examples of the use of case studies for studying problems during in-service training of county personnel in the Cooperative Extension Service and emphasizes that the learning acquired can still be recalled months after the training occurred. To insure that pertinent data for solving problems will be provided in the case study, Schiello (1975) has developed a list of twenty independent -but, hopefully, all-inclusive--questions to be guideposts for gathering data for analysis through this technique. In the initial use of these questions, Schiello found the group worked more cooperatively toward solving problems, and developed decision-making skills much faster than when questions are not used.

Miller (1964) states that, in general, case studies are also used for applying principles and clarifying values. In this area, Miller and Holden (1975) employed case studies in a career improvement program to enable participants to improve their self-images, attitudes toward work, and confidence in job-seeking. Fitzhugh (1974) used the case study technique in designing a new orientation program for hospital staff and found it to be more effective than the traditional subject-centered approach.

One of the more important uses of the case study technique appears to be in testing an individual's ability to apply learned knowledge and principles to actual problems. For example, Lacy and Smith (1976) used the case study technique to analyze a program which had previously



-7-

failed, but which, after necessary corrections and adjustments were made, became a successful endeavor. Golde (1973), in a somewhat different approach, used video tapes to present case situations in the belief that this would enable participants to apply concepts to their own situations more effectively than if written cases were analyzed. He found that using "real-life people" (not actors) who speak the language of the audience and who sometimes make mistakes motivates participants in training programs to better concentrate on the content of the tapes. Participants also develop the flexibility to handle unplanned occurrences. Moore (1967) compared the techniques of case study and simulation gaming as learning cools for adults in several situations; although the test results showed no significant differences overall, they did indicate that some aspects of learning, particularly key concepts and issues, are better achieved through case studies. In addition, Sharp (1972) showed that the case study technique could be used successfully in preparing counselor's for adult education programs.

Although the case study technique has been proven to be useful in a variety of adult learning situations, Stenzel and Feeney (1970, p. 10) add these cautions:

- 1. It puts great responsibility on the skill of the leader.
- 2. It may frustrate the learner seeking the "right" answer.
- Timid persons may not participate to any great extent and may even become dependent on the leader.

However, Stenzel and Feeney believe that the case study is one of the best techniques for involving learners directly and maintaining their interest.

CORRESPONDENCE STUDY

It is doubtful that any other technique has drawn so much controversy as correspondence study. Through this technique, the adult learner receives carefully developed special materials through the mail. The lessons, usually sequential and in an organized syllabus, are likely to have been more carefully planned than those offered in classrooms (Miller, 1964). Correspondence study is essentially a "big business" and involves an extremely large number of adults in a wide variety of programs. Miller (1964) estimates that several million people

are reached each year by correspondence study. Some authors indicate that this technique should be a part of individualized instruction, while others associate it with programmed instruction. However, in this paper, it is treated as a separate and important method in the teaching process.

The literature seems to support the following advantages of correspondence study (Miller, 1964, p. 222):

- 1. The student can proceed at an individual rate.
- 2. The student can get individual attention for personal difficulties.
- 3. Materials are usually carefully developed and well organized.
- 4. The teaching has been more carefully thought through than in most other cases.

The flexibility of this technique was illustrated in a study by Brenden (1975), who sought to determine if correspondence study was a viable approach for offering vocational education courses to residents in Wisconsin. As a result of his investigation, Brenden concluded that selected courses could be offered effectively, and four models were developed for that purpose.

Another aspect of the flexibility inherent in correspondence study has been the trend to add educational devices and software to traditional written lessons. Besides audiovisual aids and teaching machines, radio and television are now used in correspondence study with or without study materials (Cros, 1968). For example, Wilson (1976) found that taped lectures helped students overcome boredom with traditional written lessons and provided a stimulating and rewarding learning experience. More importantly, Sellman (1970) discovered that the addition of an audio tape recording and illustrations produced significantly increased learning scores over written lessons alone in a career development course. Another related study by DeMuth, Kirk, and Weinswig (1976) showed that, by using cassette tapes plus one-page printed supplements with charts and related information in correspondence courses, significant increases in knowledge were obtained by pharmacists who were engaged in continuing education.

The most negative aspect of correspondence study is rate of course completion. Pheiffer and Sabers (1970) found that from 13 percent to 32 percent of correspondence study students did not even submit



the first lesson after enrolling; however, if the first lesson were submitted, there was a 70 percent to 85 percent chance that the student would complete the course. Another study indicated that the major reasons veterans failed to complete correspondence courses were insufficient time, loss of interest, courses were not what was expected, and many courses were too difficult (Most Veterans, 1972). Other shortcomings sometimes mentioned include lack of contact with instructors and other students and limitations on the number of credits a student could earn (Correspondence Study, 1970). In addition, Hughes (1973) determined that necessity for meeting a deadline, prior college experience, and prior correspondence study experience all had a statistically significant effect on completion rates.

CRITICAL INCIDENT

Often used in supervisory training, the critical incident technique involves the identification and analysis of occurrences which have some kind of effect or influence (usually negative) on adults in any organizational setting. "A critical incident. !. .from the point of view of learning, has as an outcome a changed cognition or behavior" (Couch and Strouther, 1971, pp. 6-11). Although all kinds of experiences may involve learning, some involve particularly strong reinforcement (positive or negative) and appear to be much more significant to the individual than other experiences. As a result of using the critical incident technique, Couch and Strouther (1971) conclude that it not only permits an analysis of a much larger sample of experiences than usually possible, but it also has the advantage of greater freedom from the investigator's influence than do other techniques.

DEMONSTRATION

Demonstrations are usually classified into two types--result and method. The result demonstration shows the results of some activity, practice, or procedure through the evidence of something which can be seen, heard, or felt, whereas the method demonstration illustrates how to do something in a step-by-step procedure (Morgan et al., 1976).

Probably no other organization uses the demonstration technique more often than the Cooperative Extension Service. Most Extension personnel are well schooled in the importance of this teaching technique, from method demonstrations with 4-H and home demonstration club members

to result demonstrations with farmers and other agricultural producers.

The demonstration. . .has been used successfully for many years by. . .job trainers in industry, by teachers of the various trades, and by many other instructors in situations where education-hungry adults wanted to master a new skill or ability. . .(Morgan et al., 1976, p. 157).

Demonstrations have been used effectively to teach adults in technical schools, in the adult basic education classroom, and in the military. In addition, this technique can be found in community education classes ranging from auto mechanics and woodworking to ceramics and belly dancing. In fact, demonstrations occupy a favored place among the techniques used in adult education (Morgan et al., 1976).

Gale (1954) found the demonstration superior to the illustrated lecture in teaching performance skills when simple training devices were used. Moeckel (1961) determined that conducting demonstration pilots, including the analyzing of soil tests, yielded high instructional and motivational value during the instruction of young farmers. This finding is reinforced by the study of Cunningham and Simeral (1977), who analyzed the effectiveness of demonstrations in changing farmers' attitudes. However, Statler and Juhl (1970) felt that the best use of this technique was found where a farm enterprise was completely operated by a group of adult students. The students not only "learned by doing," but also demonstrated their learning by managing the entire enterprise through practical decision-making. All in all, as indicated by Morgan et al. (1976), demonstrations are effective because they attract and hold attention, present subject matter in a way that can be understood easily, are able to "convince" doubters that something can be accomplished, and, in general, are objective and concrete in nature. However, the same authors indicate that the reader should be aware of the following limitations of demonstrations:

- 1. Considerable skill is required for a good demonstration.
- People sometimes are inclined to use it when other techniques would be more suitable.
- Some result demonstrations may require considerable time and be somewhat expensive.
- 4. A great amount of preparation may be needed.

EXHIBIT

"An exhibit is a collection of related materials put on display to aid learning" (Bergevin et al., 1963, p. 212). The exhibit can be especially effective in educating large groups of people in such settings as conferences, conventions, workshops and fairs. According to Morgan et al. (1976, p. 20%), research indicates that exhibits must get their message across quickly because people will not take much time to look (the average "viewing time" is not much more than one minute). A UNESCO study (1970) emphasizes the importance of the exhibit for fundamental education programs in museums. The study suggests that the scope of materials for exhibition is nearly inexhaustible, and that studies of selected exhibitions have confirmed the great value and importance of exhibits in reaching a wide variety of audiences for educational purposes.

Two advantages in using exhibits for educational purposes are that they can be viewed by large numbers of people in a short time, and that the same materials can be used numerous times in various locations to convey the same message. However, exhibits require extensive planning and organization and they can be expensive. The exhibitor does not always have control of the space provided and may find that the exhibit space is inadequate. Perhaps the space is too small or away from the flow of traffic or is not equipped with electrical outlets, adequate lighting, or other such requirements.

FIELD TRIP (OR TOUR)

Bergevin et al. (1963) describes the field to pas "a carefully planned educational tour in which a group vis sa place of study for first-hand observation and study" (p. 74). When the object of study cannot be brought to the learning group, this technique is used to illustrate the results of practice, or to stimulate interest and concern about a problem situation. For example, participants in teacher training institutes have been sent on tours through ghetto areas. Evaluation data, acquired primarily by testing and follow-up interviews, reveal that it is possible, at least in the short rum, to effect a positive change in the attitudes of ABE teachers toward their students (Urban Adult Basic, 1972).

Field trips have also been used to enable low-income mothers to understand the commercial application (a clothing factory) of the steps they were taught in a class in making their own clothes (Davidson, 1976). In addition, trips to shop; to select materials for making their own garments enabled these mothers to learn about different qualities and prices of various materials. It is possible



that a field trip may be an adult basic education student's first opportunity to get out of the local neighborhood. If this is the case, then the field trip is of particular importance. In a manpower program, Ainslie (1971) found that trainees acquired a better understanding of the overall function of the organization through a field trip to various components of the system.

Various authors warn that the field trip must be carefully planned and organized and related to the concepts to be learned. The crucial elements of an effective field trip appear to be timing, arrangements, transportation, communication, and cooperation among the parties involved.

FORUM

Encouraging or promoting audience participation is the purpose of the forum technique. This technique should be used wher the topics and goals point toward accomplishing one of the following (Bergevin et al., 1963, p. 74):

- 'I. Clarifying or exploring issues raised or information presented.
- 2. Enabling the audience to contribute ideas and opinions.
- 3. Conducting a more thorough discussion than a question and answer period permits.
- 4. Permitting resource persons to speak to identified needs and interests.
- 5. Identifying needs and interests to be met in the future.

Rankin, Lassiter, and Noel (1973) report on the use of the forum in an attempt to bridge the gap between campus and community. A rather surprising average attendance of 350 persons who were representative of the population in terms of age, ethnicity, and income level prompted the authors to conclude that the forum can be a successful way to bring a campus to a community and serve as a stimulus for self-study on important matters of common concern.

Other uses of the forum include the following (Oliver, 1975, p. 264):

1. Toward the conclusion of continuing education classes, the forum technique can be used to evaluate the learning activities or to identify the interests of students for future classes.



-13-

- 2. The forum can be an integral part of the community development process. It is a way of "getting to the people" in the community and securing their help in identifying problems and opportunities. Community-wide forums, properly planned and implemented, are useful in involving residents in the community in the decision-making process.
- 3. One of the best examples of the forum was the "American Issues Forum" which, during the Bicentennial, obtained mass public participation in discussions about a variety of topics of great importance to citizens in all parts of the country. Articulated by Walter Cronkite, this forum enabled Americans to "understand who we are before we look at who we should be."

Often, the forum is used in combination with other techniques, including the panel, lecture, or symposium. The important aspect to remember is that the audience participates and is not restricted only to asking questions.

GROUP DISCUSSION

"Group discussion is purposeful conversation and deliberation about a topic of mutual interest among six to twenty participants under the guidance of a trained participant called a leader" (Bergevin et al., 1963, p. 95). Morgan et al. (1976) advocate that discussion provides for participation, makes participants more tolerant and broad-minded, encourages good listening, and provides a cooperative means of bringing together facts and opinions. Olmstead (1970), in his review, found that group discussion had been used to induce change in prejudices toward others, solve community problems, and raise industrial productivity.

The discussion technique has been effective in reoriem ing attitudes of the aged (Fleming, 1973) and in changing opinions of participants in a manpower program with regard to the value of the discussion technique (Ainslie, 1971). However, in experimenting with the group discussion process, Willsey (1973) discovered that the higher the level of training, the more likely a group will be to obtain a significant gain in knowledge through group discussion.

In comparing the discussion technique with lecturing, Thompson and Tom (1957) and Stovall (1956) determined that, although no differences are often found between the two when tests are given at the end of a course, information learned by group discussion is better retained up to six months after the course is finished. In addition, when participants appear to be anxious about grades, the lecture technique is

-14- 21

usually preferred to group discussion. However, this preference is not apparent when grades are not determined by examinations.

It is often believed that when small group decisions are properly conducted, the discussion is effective in inducing behavioral change. But few research studies substantiate this hypothesis. Perhaps Olmstead (1970) identified the problem in stating that the lack of programmed research about group discussion can be attributed to the complexity of human behavior, the difficulty of controlling variables, lack of adequate measures, and the difficulty of dealing with reallife situations.

One of the greatest problems in the group discussion technique is finding a leader who has a knowledge of the group process, that is, participation patterns, and the communication network (Dutton and Seaman, 1972). In addition, the leader must be aware of the types of obstacles which usually prevent progress in group discussion, namely, apathy, non-participation, hostility, hidden agendas, monopolizers, and lack of adequate feedback (Stanford and Roark, 1974). In addition, research by Bouchard (1969); Campbell (1968); and Taylor et al. (1958), indicated that too much interaction within the group actually inhibits creative hinking.

INDEPENDENT STUDY

In independent study, the individual takes the initiative--with or without the help of others--in diagnosing his or her educational needs, identifying resources for learning, selecting appropriate learning strategies, and evaluating learning outcomes (Knowles, 1975).

Although independent study activities have been used for a long time, only in recent years has this topic been considered valuable for discussion among adult educators. One of the earlier studies of independent, or self, study, was that by Tough (1967), who attempted to determine what teaching tasks are performed by self-teachers, who helps them, and what difficulties arise. His results indicated that, indeed, adults can teach themselves effectively. In support of this idea, Dobbs (1971) advocates that modern independent study, with all the innovative aids and resources for learning available has far greater appeal than the sterile, drab approach of textbooks often found in outmoded courses of study. According to Dobbs, the attractions of independent study are the opportunities to learn at an individual rate and to learn while working. Knowles (1975) has not only supported this concept, but has published a book in which he illustrates



how to establish a self-study program with adult students on either a credit or noncredit basis.

On the other hand, Dressel and Thompson (1973) state that an analysis of independent study programs, funded by the Ford Foundation during the Sixties, indicates that such programs, for the most part, were unsuccessful, primarily in terms of their poor completion rates. The Foundation's research study pointed out that independent study does not always foster self-direction and responsibility and concluded that there are no easy solutions to increase its effectiveness. Kleis (1971), in reporting on Project ENABLE, found that the use of a study guide with an independent learning packet did not improve learning significantly, that is, their use did not lead to higher score, on a criterion posttest. Thus, he suggests that adult learners may not be capable of guiding their own learning, at least with material of comparable difficulty and familiarity.

One of the best and most obvious resources for independent study is the library. The role of the library in independent study is emphasized in the reports by Mavor (1976) and Smith (1976), who point out that the library is not only useful in these learning endeavors, but also can actually foster independent study through its many resources and facilities, which may not be available to most adults anywhere else.

INDIVIDUALIZED INSTRUCTION

Individualizing, or personalizing, instruction, focuses the instructional process on individual skills, abilities, interests, goals, and rate of learning (Dunn and Dunn, 1972). The goals of this technique, proposed by Bechtol (1973, p. 10), are as follows:

- 1. Translate skills and content into behavioral objectives so that a diagnostic-prescription approach can be used.
- 2. Improve the self-concept of each student.
- 3. Help each student develop skills to be a lifelong, independent learner.
- 4. Provide relevant content (curriculum).

According to Lewis (1971), individualized learning provides for differences in entering levels of ability, in rate-of-learning ability, and even in differences in the learning goals themselves.

-16-

This idea is supported by Snyder (1972), who states that the heart of individualizing instruction is providing learning activities specifically tailored to the needs, interests, and abilities of adults. Snyder refers to the ILA Project in Philadelphia, in which all necessary skills in mathematics and communication for adult basic education students are taught through specially designed, individualized learning packets. He also attributes the rapid growth of adult learning centers to the use of the individualized instruction technique.

Weinhold (1972) cites the effective use of individualized instruction by adult students who taught other adults in a community action program sponsored by the Office of Economic Opportunity. In various arts, crafts, and other skill classes, students enrolled with varying levels of ability. Individualization of instruction enabled all students to progress at their own pace. McKee (1971) discusses an individually prescribed instruction program which was used with incarcerated adult offenders and freshman nursing students to see if contingency management procedures affected the rate of learning. Although contingency contacts and backup reinforcers were used to achieve optimum motivation, intercorrelations between learning rate and educational achievement of the two separate groups were not significant.

In comparing an individualized instruction program to a traditional classroom instructional program for GED students, Rogers (1973) found that students performed equally well, but fewer hours were required of those students in the individualized program. Although there may be some concern about the possible expense of developing materials for an individualized instructional program, Duane's (1971) investigation showed that elaborate programs are no more correlated with student achievement than are simpler, less expensive individualized programs.

LECTURE

The lecture is a well-prepared oral presentation of a subject by a qualified person (Bergevin et al., 1963). Much of the writing, particularly in recent years, about the lecture technique, has been rather negative. For example:

In America, we have resorted to the lecture entirely too much. . .Irresponsible speakers often take advantage of this fact and use the meeting for their own vested interests, not hesitating to distort facts. Since there is no audience participation, the listeners need not listen, need not remain alert, or even awake. . . (Morgan et al., 1976, p. 79).

However, a review of the research does not support the theory (or assumption) that the lecture is not a good technique to use. Much of the research has compared the lecture with the group discussion technique. In a comparison of three instructional techniques, Palmer and Verner (1965) stated that their study supported earlier research in that the lecture technique was most effective for immediate recall. However, they found that group discussion may have been best for delayed recall. Palmer and Verner also determined that all of the participants in their study preferred some lecture, but also wanted the opportunity to participate.

Research by Carlson (1973) found no significant differences between the lecture and the guided discussion technique. This finding was supported by Sulkin's study (1967), in which the lecture was shown to be as effective as discussion groups whether participants were low-to-high extroverted or low-to-high neurotic. Kitchen (1970), in studying influences on adult learning, discovered that when given a choice, more students preferred a lecture-discussion combination than all other techniques combined. From his study, Kitchen concluded that teacher style seemed more important to most adult students than teaching techniques.

Although group size is thought to be influential in the effectiveness of lectures, research does not support this contention. Studies by Churchill and John (1958) and de Cecco (1964) indicated that although participants in large groups usually express themselves as less satisfied when hearing a lecture, they do equally well as those in small groups on evaluation measures used to determine retention or achievement.

McLeish (1976) in reviewing research about the lecture technique, discovered that, in an economic comparison of various techniques, lectures were only slightly inferior to group discussion in knowledge acquired. However, because lectures were considerably less time consuming for both faculty and students, the efficiency for this method was the highest of any technique.

At the end of his extensive review of the literature, McLeish (1976) concluded that the lasting effect of the lecture depends a lot on the personality of the lecturer. This is supported by Ryan (1968) who states, "The effective ess of the lecture in comparison to other methods is a function of the lecturer, his or her objectives, and the type of student being taught" (pp. 270-76).

Morgan et al. (1976) concluded that the lecture technique can be a worthwhile activity because it can facilitate getting a message across to an audience of most any size. Rogers (1973) indicated

-18-

that an analysis of the most popular lecture topics can also be a key to the needs, wants, and interests of the public. Adult educators could use the results of such an analysis as a basis for program planning.

MICROTEACHING

One of the newer teching techniques that has become ropular, particularly in teacher-training programs, is microteaching. This technique usually consists of scaled-down lessons of five to ten minutes in length, in which the teaching focuses on a particular skill--for example, eye contact, questioning strategies, and so forth (Gregory, 1972). The main reason for the increased use of microteaching is its value in evaluating teacher effectiveness. Instant playback for critique and evaluation is the attraction that makes this technique so uniquely successful as a teaching tool (Second Treasury, 1970). One of the major strengths of microteaching is its versatility as a teaching technique. For example, in an effort to sensitize adult basic education teachers to linguistic factors as well as social conditions that make up their teaching environments, Bartley (1972) found microteaching to be the most effective technique. Taylor and Johns (1973) also discovered that microteaching was useful in craining adult basic education teachers, especially in behavioral attending skills. Most important, the desired change was still effective in a follow-up investigation two months after the training.

Fead (1975) reported on the effectiveness of microteaching activities for training civil engineers, both in graduate courses and noncredit, in-service training in special zed topics. The ability to use this technique in industrial plants, engineering offices, and similar locations has fostered its increased use in business and industry. The training of service personnel in consumer relations has been another successful use of microteaching ("Video Tape Helps," 1975). Reactions from clients and users of programs have been positive and enthusiastic, particularly since the tapes can be replayed for more in-depth comprehension and understanding.

In comparing the use of videotapes with films for training purposes, Phillips (1971) determined that video tapes are less costly to develop and handle. However, he cautions that care must be taken to insure that playback units in the field use the same size tape as those which are used by the camera. Films are more easily handled and better suited for short action sequences at several locations. However, the instant replay is a significant plus, according to Phillips.

NEWSLETTERS

A newsletter is a form of written communication with a definite message for the readers. The message must be accurate and complete, but not too long.

It is essential that the message be as personal as possible, that it be brief and sufficiently attractive. . .Direct statements should characterize the style with some play upon examples and anecdotes to make f. clarity and stimulate interest (Morgan et al., 1976, p. 211).

A study in West Virginia found that opinion leaders read newsletters, but there was less evidence to suggest that newsletters influenced public opinion to any great extent ("Do Extension Newsletters," 1970). Burrichter (1968) determined that newsletter information was effective in raising scores on an attitude scale, but the change was not as significant as that produced by other techniques.

Newsletters cannot be useful unless mailing lists are kept current and accurate. And unless newsletters attract immediate attention, they likely will be discarded.

PANEL

The most popular contemporary technique for improving on the traditional single lecturer is the panel presentation, using a few speakers and a moderator (Miller, 1964). Hopefully, the panel members have been selected on the basis of their competency in the topic for discussion and for their ability to verbalize in front of an audience, usually present (unless the panel is being presented through the media). The discussion or conversation among the panel members is guided by a moderator who starts and sustains the conversation. The panel may be the technique to use for the following purposes (Bergevin et al., 1963, p. 117):

- 1. Identifying and clarifying problems or issues.
- 2. Bringing several points of view before the audience.
- Stimulating an interest in a topic.
- 4. Clarifying the advantages and disadvantages of a course of action.
- 5. Making use of a wide range of informed opinion.

Morgan et al. (1976) cautions the reader that panels have frequently been badly misused when members have digressed from the topic. In addition, the moderator must not only be knowledgeable about the topic, but also skillful in keeping the conversation moving and interesting to the audience.



One frequent use of panel discussions is during institutes and conferences where a number of similar or opposing views about an important topic can be discussed in front of participants. Occasionally, the discussion may be by telephone, via conference-call procedures, and a picture of the individual is shown on a screen as he or she participates in the discussion.

Panels are also used to obtain feelings about a new idea or product from various people. The discussion may center on the possible uses or effects of the proposed change, with each individual expressing his or her views and reacting to the ideas of other panel members. Radio stations, particularly in rural areas, have used this technique for new products or governmental policies which may affect farming operations.

PROGRAMMED INSTRUCTION

Some would argue that programmed instruction should not be included with teaching techniques. However, those who support this idea should consider its purpose and how it is used.

The essential characteristic of programmed materials is that they arrange concepts or relationships which are to be learned in a series of short steps which require the learner to make appropriate responses (Miller, 1964, p. 205).

Programmed instruction can be used through self-instructional booklets, audiovisual materials, and by computer (Elliot, 1975).

Chown (1967) indicates that programmed instruction is an effective means of teaching older adults. Through her research, she found that the element of discovery enables older adults to learn materials as well as younger adults. McKee (1970) found evidence that programmed instruction can be used effectively in correctional institutions because of its self-pacing and individualized characteristic.

Much research has been conducted in comparing programmed instruction to other teaching techniques, particularly the lecture and lecture/discussion. Johnson (1967) determined that although no significant difference existed in the amount of learning attained between teaching by programmed booklets and by lecture/discussion, the material could be covered in half the time by programmed instruction. Brock (1970) concurs that programmed instruction requires less time than the lecture technique and adds that it also enables participants to better achieve the established learning objectives. The time element was

also emphasized by Longo (1969) in a study designed to obtain empirical data on the effectiveness of computerized programmed instruction as a teaching technique relative to the conventional method of lecture/discussion. Brock's findings support the conclusion that programmed instruction is not only as effective as conventional modes of instruction, but can reduce training time by a significant amount.

A research report, delivered in England, indicated that in comparing the effectiveness of "regular" teaching, including textbooks, with a self-pacing learning program, the self-pacing program took longer to complete, but resulted in a significantly higher gain in knowledge with a significantly lower error rate ("A Comparison,"..., 1966). Perhaps more significantly, Campeau (1971) discovered in her research review that of eight studies which sought to compare the instructional effectiveness of programmed materials to tradidional means of teaching,—lecture, lecture/discussion, and lecture/textbook—five found no significant differences which could be attributed to instructional method, whereas three reported significant differences in favor of programmed instruction. In addition, programmed instruction from machines or workbooks was found to be equally effective.

Before rushing into programmed instruction, an individual should realize that there is still much confusion and disagreement as to what actually constitutes a "program." Bunderson and Faust (1976) indicate that the claims regarding the merits of programmed instruction have generally been exaggerated. The authors also indicate that effective programmed instruction requires a systematic and empirical development process, which can be very time-consuming and costly unless the program is used constantly.

Perhaps the most important implication of programmed instruction is its influence on the role of the teacher, or facilitator. For example, Ross (1970) found the use of programmed instruction enabled the teacher to assume a benign and supportive role. One can but wonder how many teachers will be comfortable with that role without some preparatory training.

ROLE-PLAYING

According to Miller (1964) role-playing is perhaps the only technique that is "adult education's own." However, Morgan et al. (1976) indicated that children have role-played for centuries, while psychiatrists were the first to use it with adults. "Role playing is the spontaneous acting out of a situation or an incident by selected members of a group to portray a human relationship problem" (p. 132). Neff and Paterno (1972) contend that role-playing can be a valuable learning experience,

but, because of the complexity of human interactions, it requires an alert teacher to handle it. In other words, although most situations can be handled with honesty and sensitivity, an element of risk is involved. Tipple (1974) suggests that role-playing requires a lot of extensive preparation, but its attractiveness is that it can be tailor-made to most problem situations. He also suggests that one of the best ways to use role-playing to promote different understandings of "real" problems is to keep the same problem but change the roles each participant assumes.

Role-playing in adult education can be used for a number of purposes. In adult basic education, the technique can be effective in illustrating some of the problems which the students may face as they attempt new activities of a personal or vocational nature. Some of the roles which are often most meaningful are those of job interviewer, job interviewee, work supervisor, law enforcement officer, and high-pressure salesperson.

Adults who are learning the dynamics of group leadership should have the opportunity to play a number of roles in order to learn some of the problems they may encounter as leaders. This technique is effective in training volunteer group leaders for civic clubs, community groups, youth agencies, and church groups, and can be used for officer or leader training in educational organizations such as Parent-Teacher Associations, and extension service groups.

SELF-INSTRUCTIONAL MODULES

The need for some kind of self-paced, packaged learning has been commensurate with the recent growth of competency-based teacher education programs. Although some disagreement exists as to what a module really is, Hall and Jones (1976) define the learning module as a self-contained set of learning experiences designed to facilitate the learner's attainment of a stated set of learning objectives. As described by Robinson and Crittenden (1972), modules are portable, completely self-contained, and usable with small groups of learners as well as on an individual basis. Kapper (1968) adds that "although there are many types of learning packages, one characteristic that is common to all is that of self-pacing" (p. 260).

Because self-instructional modules are new, there is little evidence of their effectiveness. One of the early module development projects was at Weber State University; a recent comprehensive evaluation of the Weber State program showed that graduates who are now teachers and who had previously held a negative attitude toward WILKITS (modules)

changed their opinions and judged the modules to be an effective means of delivering instruction (Roth, 1977). In a lition, those same graduates also judged themselves more capable of self-direction, than first-year teachers from other programs.

McKee and Seay (n.d., p. 9) found instructional modules to be effective for working with disadvantaged adults in a correctional education setting. This finding was supported by the research of Peters (1971), who concluded that the development of self-instructional teacher-training packages offers considerable promise for preservice and inservice education for adult basic education teachers. A major project at Texas A&M University features the development of a series of learning modules for use in staff development in ABE/GED programs. This idea is supported by Mills and Wood (1974), who advocate that learning packages may be the answer for adult learners with limited time to pursue education programs who need a more efficient and effective mode of learning.

McKee (1971) advocates the use of learning modules for training purposes (particularly in the Cooperative Extension Service) because of the flexibility for adapting materials to needs and interests of the participants. However, he cautions that preparation time for modules can be very demanding, the cost can be somewhat prohibitive if audiovisual materials are used, and not many individualized learning modules are suitable for management training situations.

SIMULATION

Simulation is a technique which involves participants in real-life situations and provides them with opportunities to practice solving problems through rational thought and the application of past learning experiences. Few present-day adult-education textbooks deal with simulation. However, the existing literature indicates that simulation is a successful, action-oriented technique. In addition, McKenzie (1974) notes that it is significant that the origin of early simulation games was related to a need for effective technology for adult education and training.

Simulations are frequently used in business and industrial training. Jaffee, Cohen, and Cherry (1972), in analyzing this technique for training employees, report that the primary consideration for using simulation games should be assurance of participation by all trainees. They also indicate that some simulations may even engender hostility and that silly games are usually distasteful for all adults. Harris (1972) states that "simulations are effective in training sales force

-24-

personnel by adding actuality and naturalism to training programs and clinics" (pp. 16-19). Relying on changes in on-the-job performance as the success criterion for whatever techniques are used in training. Harris finds simulations draw high marks in final evaluations. Schriesheim and Yancy (1975) conducted an experimental inquiry into the effectiveness of simulation games in the business community. They concluded that the most important support for the use of games comes from their high face validity and the almost uniformly positive evaluations obtained from participants. However, Schriesneim and Yancy were unable to draw any concrete conclusions regarding the effectiveness of simulations. They encourage trainers to gather data about learning, behavior change, and other outcomes associated with training techniques.

In other research, Griggs and Oppert (1974) found that simulations were effective in teaching consumer economics to women inmates. Spitze (1976) agrees that learning consumer economics is much easier when the knowledge is packaged appealingly in simulation experiences. Schneeberger (1968) proved that the use of a simulation exercise on the computer eliminated time-consuming computations and required less participant time than other techniques. Perhaps the most extensive simulation was described by Hunsaker, Larson, and Halverson (1974, pp. 162-164), in which a modified real-life experience is designed to show problems involved in initiating change. Called the "Sandcastle Exercise," the experiment lasted several days, and the results indicated it to be a "viable, multidimensional learning exercise" which has since been adopted by other practitioners in modified settings.

The adaptability of the simulation is evident through the variety of settings in which it is used. According to Bass and Vaughn (1966), the armed forces, as well as commercial airlines, have used "mock-ups," or simulation of airplane cockpits, for training pilots. In addition, a variety of simulations were utilized for training individuals in the space program.

In summary, the simulations have the following strengths (Dunn and Dunn, 1972, p. 31):

- 1. They are very real to those who work within them and frequently provide players with insights and understandings they had not previously had.
- They provide rapid feedback about decisions made during realistic, lifelike circumstances.

-25-

However, the reader should also be aware of some of the weaknesses of this technique (Bass and Vaugn, 1972, p. 105):

- Individuals sometimes tend to role-play instead of just being themselves.
- 2. Some participants cannot adjust to the telescoping (compressing of time and events) that occurs in the simulation exercise.

SKIT

The dramatic skit uses dialogue and action to interpret situations and events and usually involves a longer period of time than role-playing. As a teaching technique, the skit has the following advantages (Morgan et al., 1976, p. 141):

- 1. The audience is involved emotionally.
- 2. Ideas are more readily identified with viewers' experiences.
- 3. Viewers can get an insight into other people's feelings and attitudes.
- 4. It gets people involved.
- 5. It may be devised for almost any situation and does not need elaborate settings or equipment.

In teaching a group of undereducated adult women, Griggs and Oppert (1974), used a skit to contrast the purchasing practices of two shoppers. The increase in scores between the pretest and posttest indicated that the participants learned as a result of watching the skit.

The reader is cautioned that care should be taken in dealing with serious matters to avoid exaggeration and sensationalism in skits. Emotions evoked in skits should be only those with which most of the audience can feel comfortable, in general.

SYMPOSIUM

The symposium is a series of short presentations by two to five persons who are qualified to speak on related topics, or on various phases of the same topic. This technique is often used to present related aspects of a controversial topic, or closely related problems,



-26-

to an audience of any size (Bergevin et al., 1963). The symposium is usually a better method than a lecture because a variety of speakers are more likely to hold the interest and attention of the audience.

The symposium can be best used when a controversial topic is to be presented to an audience with different points of view. By selecting speakers who represent different sides of the issue, and restricting or even eliminating any audience reaction, the moderator can have a better chance to insure that all opinions will be presented in an orderly manner.

Another common use of the symposium is at political meetings, or rallys. Different candidates can be given equal amounts of time to present their platforms or views concerning the issues of the day. This can be accomplished as an actual presentation before an audience or can be taped and presented at a later time over radio or television.

Limitations of the symposium are the tendencies of the speakers to sometimes drift off the subject and the possibilities of repetition of information, divergences in opinions, and general confusion if the moderator is not competent in his role (Morgan, 1976).

TELELECTURE

The telelecture is presented through a telephone connected to an audio speaker. In some cases, a speaker may not be able to appear in person before a group but is able to use the telephone to reach the intended audience. Although the telelecture might be included as a part of the lecture technique, it has been presented separately because there are certain distinct differences between the two activities and much of the research about the telelecture has compared its effectiveness to the "face-to-face" lecture technique.

Grioer and Robinson (1969) found that telephone instruction for off-site industrial procurement personnel resulted in a level of learning comparable to that achieved by personnel learning by lecture "on-site." Blackwood and Trent (1968) also found no significant difference in the amount of learning attained between the lecture and telelecture techniques in teaching adults. Pellett (1969) studied the comparative effectiveness of telelecture and face-to-face lecture in training county extension agents and determined that they are equivalent techniques for communicating cognitive knowledge. Puzzouli and Fazzaro (1971) reached the same conclusion after a similar study with nursing education, but also emphasized that the telelecture produced a more favorable cost-per-student ratio.



Other research investigated the effectiveness of telelecture without conducting a comparative study. A study by Peterson (1970) indicated that certain types of individuals function better with articulated media and that certain skills can be learned which enable persons to increase their effectiveness under telephone instruction. Sparks (1976) determined that training members of the clergy to use conflict creatively can be achieved by the telelecture technique on a statewide basis by using small group settings and a highly competent faculty. Gluek (1971) concurs that the telelecture is an effective technique with multiple locations, but cautions that the *lecturer* must be able to adapt. With no chance to see the participants, it is sometimes difficult to know if anyone is really listening.

Major problems in using the telelecture technique include the following:

- 1. Technical problems; for example, interference, static, garbled messages (Kreitlow, 1974, p. 134, Gluek, 1971, p. 14).
- 2. Students who are unfamiliar with communicating by telephone in class (Kreitlow, 1974, p. 134).
- Necessity of firm or structured reading assignments (Sparks, 1976, p. 204).
- 4. Problems of getting study materials to all sites where small groups or individuals receive the information (Puzzouli, 1970, p. 56).
- 5. Malfunction of equipment (Gluek, 1971, p. 14).

Most writers recommended using other techniques with the telelecture, if possible. However, all agreed that t is a signif cant technique for reaching vast and varied audiences.

TUTORIAL

Although somewhat related to independent study, the tutorial technique involves a much closer relationship between the facilitator, or teacher, and the student(s). This technique is appealing because most programs in adult education are designed for breadth rather than depth, and once a person becomes interested in pursuing a topic beyond what is covered in the class setting, there are few opportunities available for systematic study under the close guidance of a qualified tutor (Miller, 1964).



-28-

The tutorial approach seems to be most effective in adult basic education. For example, in New York a pilot tutorial program was implemented to improve communication between non-English speaking persons and native-born citizens. All adult participants (students) expressed positive effects from this technique, for example, inspiration for further study and increased confidence (Grabowski, 1976). The study advises that tutors should speak the language of the "tutee," must be used on a one-to-one basis only, and must be assigned to students on the basis of compatibility.

The effectiveness of a tutorial program was supported by a study at Berea College (Student Taught Adult, 1972), where a number of college students tutored as many as three adult basic education students in their homes. This proved to be an effective technique as shown by grade-level score increases and evaluations by the students. Hand and Puder (1967) indicate that tutorial is one of the most successful techniques as demonstrated by the success of the "Laubach Method," where a one-to-one relationship between teacher and learner is emphasized.

Miller (1967) proposes that the tutorial technique is the answer when a class is cancelled because too few students enroll. Those who do register could work with the instructor independently, conferring with him or her and with each other as often as necessary. He cautions, however, that the expense of this technique may be prohibitive to many adult students.

INFLUENCE OF MEDIA

Indications are that media will have an increased influence on learning in the future. In this paper, media are discussed in terms of two categories: multimedia and mass media.

MULTIMEDIA

Several studies have been conducted to evaluate the effectiveness of a multimedia approach to teaching adults. Douglass (1969) found that the use of telewriting—the transmission of graphics and speech through special telephone circuits—can save time and money, but he indicates that its effectiveness depends heavily on user attitudes, teacher preparation, and adequate service and facilities. Brown et al. (1973) investigated the relationships between selected characteristics of 250 adult learners and their responses to multimedia instructional



programs, readings, audio tapes, and video tapes. They determined that variations in responses suggested that key personal characteristics are related to acceptance of and benefit from use of multimedia.

Robinson (1971) reported that a carefully designed multimedia instructional program was effective in changing adults' expressed opopinions about social and political issues. Kent and Dockrill (1972) found that a multimedia approach was significantly more effective in teaching reading and comprehension skills to subliterate adults than the traditional textbook approach. Thus, in general, an educational program using multimedia seemed to enhance learning, at least in a number of situations in which adults were the participants.

MASS MEDIA

Mass media are used to reach (or teach) a large audience, that is, hundreds, or even thousands. This approach is often used in underdeveloped countries (The Use of Mass Media, 1965; Second Treasury, 1970). Mass media as a teaching/learning technique also has been used in England (What Is, 1974) and Japan (The Use of Modern Media, 1972), as well as in the United States.

Recently, the focus on mass media has emphasized the uses of radio and television. Marchese (n.d.) discusses the feasibility of using cable television as an instructional medium for undereducated adults in the Appalachian region of the U.S. Campeau (1971) found that pocket radios have, in some instances, produced significant results in adult students' efforts to learn a foreign language, primarily because the radios made drill exercises more available. Eyster (1976) reports that educational television is an appropriate technique for teaching adults, particularly when the critical element of person-to-person contact is added in an open broadcast. He emphasizes that this contact is critical to the student's involvement, retention, perseverance, and achievement.

Perhaps the most comprehensive attempt to use mass media in adult education was "Project RED," conducted by the University of Wisconsin. This project was an innovative attempt to design and use mass media to serve undereducated adults in four counties in southern Wisconsin by penetrating the isolation often created by distance, poverty, long working hours, and previous negative educational experiences (The RFD System, 1972). The media system used television, bulletins, radio, a monthly almanac, a toll-free problem-solving telephone service, and

-30-

home visits. The project demonstrated that a mass media educational approach will generate a high participation rate once it is developed and delivered into the home (Frank, 1972). This idea is somewhat reinforced by the publication edited by Niemi (1971), in which many benefits of mass media in adult education are discussed by the various authors of the articles presented.

SYNTHESIS

The following ideas or observations have been fostered from a careful analysis of the data in the preceding section of this paper:

- 1. The paucity of "hard" research data on the subject of teaching techniques in adult education is somewhat frightening. As the reader may have noticed, little research was available on some of the techniques included in this review. In addition, some of the data labeled "research" did not attempt to assess the effectiveness of the technique(s) discussed. Many of the data consist of surveys, preference studies, attitudinal measures, and informal evaluations by participants. I suggest that teacher trainers, professors, and others engaged in staff development activities in adult education refrain from emphasizing the "effectiveness" of certain teaching techniques if that effectiveness is not supported by research findings. Preferences for and attitudes toward selected techniques can be stressed, where appropriate, but we, as professional educators, should not assume that these kinds of phenomena are necessarily correlated with effectiveness.
- When relevant research studies were found, the quality of the experimental designs were difficult to evaluate. Conclusions may have been biased by uncontrolled variables in the studies reported. If the control factors are not indicated, how can the reader be certain they exist? In addition, according to Campeau (1971), it is not always possible to draw conclusions as to whether statistically significant gains, when reported, are educationally significant as well. Again, in reviewing research reports, the adult educator should look beyond the Surface and, if possible, evaluate the study on the basis of its design, procedures, data analysis, and basis for conclusions drawn. More important, when reporting research, the individual should provide sufficient information about his or her research. Then readers can draw their own conclusions about the quality of the research study. In addition, data are needed about the other effects of teaching. For example, do certain



techniques motivate adults to participate further in learning activities? Are additudinal changes influenced more by the use of selected techniques alone, or in combination with others? Which teaching techniques are more effective in convincing adults to actually *change* their behaviors, that is, adopt a new behavior, terminate a former activity?

- No single technique, when compared to others, is more effective in adult learning situations. Sometimes, it appears that one is more effective, but further research usually contradicts previous findings. Programmed instruction does show some promise of being more effective than other techniques under certain conditions, but results are not always conclusive. The lecture has been shown to be more effective than group discussion for immediate or short-term recall, but group discussion is more effective for recall after several months. This conclusion is supported by Hand and Puder (1967) who, after an extensive review of approaches to teaching adults, concluded that no single approach (or technique) was universally more effective than the others included in their investigation. They added that "the choice would seem to be a compromise of two or three methods, selected as experience and changing circumstances may dictate" (pp. 3-4). Therefore, a variety of techniques should be used instead of a single teaching technique, if possible. This does not mean that something different should be used each time, but simply implies that changing the pace or even the style of teaching can break the constancy, or "monotony," of the learning situation.
- 4. In the future, packaged (individualized) learning, in one form or another, probably will be more frequently used in adult education. Although packaged learning has not been shown to be more effective than other techniques, research indicates it is equally effective but requires much less time. Too, in our highly mobile population as described by Toffler (1970), the availability of learning "packages" located around the country could be a definite asset for those adults whose learning is interrupted by a geographic move. Administrators, teacher trainers, and teachers, themselves, should become knowledgeable about some form, or forms, of packaged learning. Training in this area will soon become a "must" for the individual who aspires to be successful in teaching adults.
- 5. The case study, although not always mentioned in the literature as a teaching technique, seems to have more adaptability and usefulness in stimulating learning than most other techniques.

The case study should be used more often in adult edulation, particularly in problem-solving and related types of activities. This technique requires careful planning on the part of the facilitator and, if handled properly, may even force adult educators to spend more time in planning new and more effective learning activities instead of merely repeating the same procedures.

- The effectiveness of self-study activities, especially corres-6. pondence study and programmed learning, is greatly enhanced by the use of media, particularly audio tapes and visuals. Apparently, the lack of contact with instructors can be overcome to some degree by the use of media. However, greater emphasis must be put on the importance of completing the first lesson when learning is being accomplished by correspondence study. Total course completion, in many cases, is dependent upon completing the initial lesson. Therefore, a knowledge of how to use media is very important in working with self-study techniques in adult education. Multimedia activities should be used whenever possible in order to enhance the ability to provide an effective educational program. Learning-center directors often have a better opportunity to improve their programs because of the media available in the center, but teachers in the "classroom" situation should also use audiorisual materials whenever possible as a part of selfstudy program.
- 7. The increased use of telelecture should be considered by adult educators. This technique has been shown to be as effective as face-to-face lecturing, and the cost/effectiveness advantages, particularly with the likelihood of increased travel costs, should make this technique more attractive to program directors. Administrators should investigate the feasibility of using the telelecture technique more often. Not only would program costs possibly decrease, but the time required may also be less, enabling the program staff, in turn, to spend more time planning and implementing effective adult education programs.
- 8. Because they are high in face validity and popularity with adult students, simulations have been shown to be effective in adult education. However, they are not more effective than other techniques.
- 9. Because of its adaptability to a variety of settings, topics, and purposes, microteaching promises to be an effective technique for training adults. However, its use will greatly depend on development of the needed hardware and the training of competent users.

RESEARCH PRIORITIES FOR THE FUTURE

The literature cited in this report raises the question of research in the area of teaching techniques. "Conventional wisdoms" and "common-sense correlates" are not adequate for selecting and using a particular teaching technique. A research base is needed for identifying, selecting, and applying adult education teaching techniques.

More specifically, the following recommendations should be considered:

- 1. A concentrated effort should be made by adult educators and others to conquet valid research studies to determine the relative effectiveness of various techniques for teaching adults. Certainly, obstacles do exist and all factors involved may not be under the control of the investigator, particularly such items as attendance, participation, adequate facilities, and research costs. However, unless research data are forthcoming, there will be, at most, only a weak basis for recommending certain teaching techniques in learning situations.
- 2. "Effectiveness" should be determined by more criteria than simply knowledge gained as indicated by immediate recall on a posttest. In addition to increased knowledge or skill, measures of performance, or competencies, should be taken. Could the participants actually demonstrate increased ability to perform the tasks, or objectives? Did one technique motivate a student to want to learn more?
- 3. More investigations should compare the "standard" techniques, that is, lecture, group discussion, panel, and demonstration, with the newer techniques, for example, simulation, programmed instruction, and microteaching. Again, in addition to how much learning is achieved, factors such as amount of time required, cost effectiveness, and psychological impact on the participants should be included in the comparative studies.
- 4. Research should be conducted concerning the influence of "learning styles" on the effectiveness of teaching techniques. Although learning styles can be conceptualized from several points of view, I encourage those based on the concept of "sensory-intake," as advocated by French (1975). Within the sensory-intake framework, personal learning styles include:*



^{*}Reprinted with permission of Russell L. French, Bureau of Educational Research and Service, College of Education, The University of Tennessee, Knoxville.

STYLE

CHARACTERISTIC

PRINT-ORIENTED AURAL ORAL (INTERACTIVE)

VISUAL

TACTILE MOTOR **OLFACTORS**

Dependence on reading and writing A listener; doesn't say much A talker; learns through discussion Must have many visual stimuli and visual representations

Has to touch everything and everyone Has to move about while learning Learns through smell and taste

Another view is offered by those who perceive learning styles as follows:

STYLE

CHARACTERISTIC

SEQUENTIAL

Must perceive orderly relationships (B follows A)

LOGICAL ~

Uses processes of human reasoning to research conclusions

INTUITIVE

Perceives truths and facts directly,

without benefit of reasoning

SPONTANEOUS

Relies on impulse

OPEN

Uses combinations of the above or different ones of the above at

different times

Going one step further, French (1975) states that both of these frameworks may, in fact, be valid and that both may be operating simultaneously. Therefore, the investigator may have to consider the following framework, or matrix, (see p. 36) in the study. A desirable outcome of such research may be the ability to match facilitators and students on the basis of teaching styles and learning styles. In addition, various techniques could hopefully be identified and used on the basis of matching the students' learning styles.

An effective system of disseminating research results should be developed and used by both researchers and users. Because of its availability and relatively low-cost, the ERIC system is recommended. However, cooperation between ERIC, professional journals, clearinghouses, and research sections of the national associations of the adult education profession (AEA, NAPCAE) are essential to needed dissemination.



	SEQUENTIAL	70007	MTUITIVE	SPONTANEOUS	OP EN
Aural				a	
Oral (Interactive)	•		·	,	
Visual					
Tactile					
Motor					
Olfactory					
Print-Oriented					3

This report reviews and synthesizes research related to teaching techniques in adult education. It is not intended to be totally negative regarding availability of research on these techniques. In the next five to ten years, needed research will likely be forthcoming, and the research to be reviewed will be greater in terms of both quantity and quality.



REFERENCES

- Ainslie, Clark A. Educational Media Techniques Utilized Within the Comprehensive Manpower Development System. Ottawa: Canadian Department of Regional Economic Expansion, 1971. 15 p. (ED 060 426)
- Bartley, Diana E. Institutes in Adult Basic Education: A Model Program, Final Report. Milwaukee: University of Wisconsin School of Education, 1972.
- Bass, Bernard M., and Vaughn, James A. Training in Industry: The Management of Learning. Belmont, Calif.: Wadsworth Publishing Company, 1966.
- Bechtol, William M. Individualizing Instruction and Keeping Your Sanity. Chicago: Follett Publishing Company, 1973.
- Bergevin, Paul; Morris, Dwight; and Smith, Robert M. Adult Education Procedures: A Handbook of Tested Patterns for Effective Participation. New York: The Seabury Press, 1963.
- Blackwood, Helen, and Trent, Curtis. A Comparison of the Effectiveness of Face-to-Face and Remote Teaching in Communicating Educational Information to Adults. Manhattan, Kan.: Kansas State University Extension Service, 1968. 16 p. (ED 028 324)
- Bouchard, Thomas J., Jr. "Personality, Problem-Solving Procedure, and Performance in Small Groups." *Journal of Applied Psychology* 53 (February 1969): 1-29.
- Brenden, Gerald S. Model for Offering Correspondence Courses Through the VITAE, Final Report. Kenosha, Wis.: Gateway Technical Institute, 1975. 25 p. (ED 115 943)
- Brock, John F. Programmed Instruction for Selected CIC Watch Officer Tasks. San Diego: U. S. Naval Personnel and Training Research Laboratory, 1970. 12 p. (AD 664 235)
- Brown, Robert D. et al. Adult Learner Characteristics and Their Responsiveness to Multi-Media Instructional Programs Designed for an Open University System. Lincoln, Neb.: University of Nebraska, 1973. 3 p. (ED 086 158)



- Bunderson, C. Victor, and Faust, Gerald W. "Programmed and Computer-Assisted Instruction." The Psychology of Teaching Methods. The Seventy-fifth Yearbook of the National Society for the Study of Education. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press, 1976.
- Burrichter, Arthur W. "A Study of Elementary Public School Personnel Attitudes Toward Continuing Education in Selected Communities in Wyoming: An Experiment in Changing Adult Attitudes and Concepts." Ph.D dissertation, University of Wyoming, 1968. 125 p. (ED 029 239)
- Campbell, John P. "Individualized vs. Group Problem Solving in an Industrial Sample." *Journal of Applied Psychology* 52 (March 1968): 206-210.
- Campeau, Peggie L. Selective Review of the Results of Research on the Use of Audiovisual Media to Teach Adults. Strasbourg, France: Council of Europe, 1971. 29 p. (ED 066 923)
- Carlson, Carl R. "A Study of the Relative Effectiveness of Lecturer and Directed Discussion Methods of Teaching Tests and Measurements to Prospective Air Force Instructors." Adult Education Dissertation Abstracts, 1935-1962. Edited by Stanley M. Grabowski. Syracuse University: ERIC Clearinghouse on Adult Education, 1973. 448 p. (ED 069 967)
- Carp, Abraham, et al. Learning Interests and Experiences of Adult Americans. Berkeley: Educational Testing Service, 1973. 119 p. (ED 097 421)
- Carpenter, William L. Twenty-Four Group Methods and Techniques in Adult Education. Tallahassee: Florida State University, 1967. 59 p. (ED 024 882)
- Carter, G. L., Jr. "Must Training be Practical?" Journal of Extension XII (Summer 1974): 20-27.
- Chown, Sheila, et al. "Programmed Instruction as a Method of Teaching Paired Associates to Older Adults." Journal of Gerontology 22 (April, 1967): 212-219. (AC 001 626)
- Churchill, Ruth, and John, Paula. "Conservation of Teaching Time Through the Use of Lecture Classes and Student Assistants."

 Journal of Educational Psychology 49 (December 1958): 324-327.
- Correspondence Study: Student Evaluation. Phase II, Part I of the State-Wide Correspondence Study. Seattle: Washington University, Office of Institutional Research, 1970. 38 p. (ED 042 995)

- Couch, Peter B., and Strouther, George B. "A Critical Incident Evaluation of Supervisory Training." Training and Development Durnal 25 (September 1971): 6-11.
- Cros, Louis. Correspondence Tuition in France and the Development of Permanent Education. Strasbourg, France: Council for Cultural Cooperation, 1968. 97 p. (ED 038 597)
- Cunningham, Clarance, and Simeral, Kenneth. "Do Test Demonstration Farms Work?" *Journal of Extension* XV (January/February 1977): 18-24.
- Davidson, Edmonia W. "COPE'S Educationally Disadvantaged, Low-Income Mothers Who are Heads of Households." Adult Leadership 24 (April 1976): 267-270.
- de Cecco, John P. "Class Size and Coordinated Instruction." British Journal of Educational Psychology 34 (February 1964): 65-74.
- DeMuth, James E.; Kirk, Kenneth W.; and Weinswig, Melvin H. "Continuing Education for Non-Practicing Professionals: A Case Study of a Program for Pharmacists." Adult Education XXVI (1976): 157-166.
- Do Extension Newsletters Really Work? Morgantown, W. Va.: West Virginia University, Cooperative Extension Service, 1970.
- Dobbs, Ralph C., and Markoff, Richard M. "Is Independent Study an Answer?" Journal of Extension IX (Spring 1971): 27-30.
- Douglass, Stephen A. Telewriter: A Survey of Attitudes, Information, and Implications, 1969. 27 p. (ED 038 606)
- Dressel, Paul L, and Thompson, Mary M. Independent Study. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, Inc., 1973.
- Duane, James E. "An Investigation and Cost Analysis of Learning Time and Task Elaboration for Self-Instructional Equipment Operation Training." (Ph.D. dissertation, Indiana University, 1971.
- Dumn, Rita, and Dumn, Kenneth. Practical Approaches to Individualizing Instruction. West Nyack, N.Y.: Parker Publishing Company, Inc., 1972.
- Dutton, M. Donnie, and Seaman, Don F. Understanding Group Dynamics in Adult Education. Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall, Inc., 1972.



- Elliot, Paul H. An Exploratory Study of Adult Learning Styles. 1975. 32 p. (ED 116 G16)
- Eyster, George W. "ETV Utilization in Adult Education." Adult Leadership 25 (December 1976): 109-111.
- Fead, J. W. N. "Use of the Colorado SURGE System for Continuing Education for Civil Engineers." Paper Presented at the annual meeting of the American Society for Engineering Education, 1975. 6 ρ. (ED 116 959)
- Fitzhugh, Zoe-Anne. "A Case Analysis of Process Level in Classroom Teaching." Continuing Education 7 (July 1974). 4-5.
- Fleming, Edward L. "An Investigation of Problem-Centered Group Discussion as a Technique for Re-Orienting the Attitudes of the Aged, A Report of Type C Project," Adult Education Dissertation Abstracts, 1935-1962. Edited by Stanley M. Grabowski. Syracuse University: ERIC Clearinghouse on Adult Education, 1973. 449 p. (ED 069 967)
- Frank, Boris. "Report of Outside Evaluation Team." RFD Newsletter.
 The University of Wisconsin--Extension, 1972.
- French, Russell L. "Instructional Strategies and Learning Processes." Educational Considerations III (Fall 1975): 27-28.
- Gale, Steve. "A Comparative Study of the Lecture Demonstration and the Illustrated Lecture Methods of Instruction." Ph.D. dissertation, Bradley University, 1954.
- Glueck, William F. "Management Training Using Telelectures." Training and Development Journal 25 (November 1971): 12-16.
- Golde, Roger A. "There's More to Videocassetes Than Meets the Eye." Training and Development Journal 27 (October 1973): 20-24.
- Grabowski, Stanley M. Adult Education Dissertation Abstracts, 1935-1962. New York: Syracuse University, ERIC Clearinghouse on Adult Education, 1973. 448 p. (ED 069 967)
- Grabowski, Stanley M. Training Teachers of Adults: Models and Innovative Programs. Syracuse University: Publications in Continuing Education, Occasional Papers No. 46, 1976. 67 p. (CE 007 199)
- Cregory, Thomas B. Encounters With Eaching: A Microteaching Manual. Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall, Inc., 1972.

- Griggs, Mildred, and Oppert, Judy. "Teachers Behind Bars." Adult Leadership 23 (October 1974): 112-114.
- Grioer, Jeanette A., and Robinson, Margot B. "Centralized Training for Personnel in Remote Locations." *Human Factors* II (April 1969): 175-18C.
- Hall, Gene E., and, Jones, Howard L. Competency-Based Education: A Process for the Improvement of Education. Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall, Inc., 1976.
- Hand, Samuel B., and Puder, William. A Preliminary Overview of Methods and Techniques in Adult Literacy and Adult Basic Education.
 Tallahassee, Fla.: Florida State University, 1967.
- Harris, Clyde E., Jr. "Sales Force Management Training." Training and Development Journal 26 (May 1972): 16-19.
- Houle, Cyril O. The Inquiring Mind. Madison, Wis.: University of Wisconsin Press, 1961.
- Hughes, Charles R. "The Influence of Selected Factors Upon Completion of Correspondence Study Courses." Adult Education Dissertation Abstracts, 1935-1962. Edited by Stanley M. Grabowski. Syracuse University: ERIC Clearinghouse on Adult Education, 1973. 448 p. (ED 069 967)
- Hunsaker, Phillip; Larson, Richard G.: and Halverson, Claire. "The Sandcastle Exercise: A Training Experience for Potential Change Agents." Adult Leadership 23 (December 1974): 162-164.
- Jaffee, Cabot L.; Cohen, Stephen L.: and Cherry, Robert. "Supervisory Selection Program for Disadvantaged or Minority Employees." *Training and Development Journal* 26 (January 1972): 22-27.
- Johnson, James L. "Newsletters in Extension With a Suggested Programmed Learning Manual for Self-Teaching of Newsletter Production." Master's thesis. Washington State University, 1969. 131 p. (ED 051 491)
- Johnson, Kirk A., et al. Comparison of Conventional and Programmed Instruction in Teaching Communications Procedures. San Diego, Calif.: U.S. Naval Personnel Research Service, 1967. 22 p. (AC 001 623)
- Kapper, Philip G. "An Instructional Management Strategy for Individualized Instruction." Phi Delta Kappan XLIX (January, 1968): 260.

- Kent, M. R., and Dockrill, F. J. Teaching Reading and Comprehension Skills to Sub-Literate Adults. Province of Nova Scotia, Department of Education, 1972. 18 p. (ED 068 765)
- Kitchen, William W. "Influences on Adult Learning in the Evening College." *University of North Carolina Extension Bulletin* 49 (April 1970).
- Kleis, Russell J. Project ENABLE: Extern Network of Adult Basic Education Leaders, 1970-71: Michigan State University, Department of Administration and Higher Education, 1971. 127 p. (ED 056 312)
- Knowles, Malcolm S. Self-Directed Learning: A Guide for Learners and Teachers. New York: Association Press, 1975. 135 p. (ED 114 653)
- Knox, Alan B. Helping Adults Learn. University of Illinois, Urbana, Ill., 1974. 58 p. (ED 103 670)
- Kreitlow, Burton W. "Tuskegee, Are You on the Line?" Adult Leader-ship 23 (November 1974): 133-134.
- Lacy, Charles L., and Smith, Robert M. "Case Study of a Programming Success Based on a Failure." *Adult Leadership* 25 (December, 1976): 113-115.
- Lewis, James Jr. Administering the Individualized Instruction Program.
 West Nyack, N.Y.: Parker Publishing Company, 1971.
- Longo, Alexander A. The Implementation of Computer Assisted Instruction in the U.S. Army Basic Electronics Training. Follow-Up of a Feasibility Study. Fort Monmouth, N.J.: Army Signal Center and School, 1969. 12 p. (ED 038 021)
- Marchese, Lamar. CATV in Central Appalachia: A Feasibility Study. Morehead, Ky: Appalachian Adult Education Center. N.D. 75 p. (ED 053 380)
- Mavor, Anne S., et al. The Role of Public Libraries in Adult Independent Learning. Final Report. New York: College Entrance Examination Board, 1976. 193 p. (ED 126 936)
- McKay, Gerald L. "Is Programmed Instruction for Extension?" Journal of Extension IX (Fall 1971): 18-23.
- McKee, John M. The Use of Programmed Instruction in Correctional Institutions. Paper presented at the East Coast Seminar, Morgantown, W.V.: 1970. 20 p. (ED 059 446)

- McKee, John M., and Seay, Donna M. The Use of Individually Prescribed Instruction for the Disadvantaged. N.D. 14 p. (ED 059 432)
- McKee, John M., et al. The Effect of Contingency Management Procedures on the Rate of Learning. Elmore, Ala.: Rehabilitation Research Foundation, 1971. 7 p. (ED 059 463)
- McKenzie, Leon. "Simulation Games and Adult Education." Adult Leader-ship 22 (March 1974): 293-295.
- McLeish, John. "The Lecture Method." The Psychology of Teaching Methods. The Seventy-fifth Yearbook of the National Society for the Study of Education. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press, 1976.
- Miller, Harry G., and Holden, John B.—Career Improve nt and Satisfaction: Initiating a Positive Self-Perspective. Southern Illinois University, 1975. 28 p. (ED 114 668)
- Miller, Harry L. Teaching and Learning in Adult Education. New York: The MacMillan Company, 1964. 340 p.
- Mills, Earl S., and Wood, Duane R. Optimizing Learning Through Effective Management. Central Michigan University: Institute for Personal and Career Development, 1974. 14 p. (ED 115 152)
- Moeckel, Rolf E. 'The Effectiveness of Practices of Individual On-Farm Instruction Used by Teachers of Adult Farmer Courses in Michigan." Ph.D. dissertation, Michigan State University, 1969. 240 p.
- oore, Larry F. 'Business Games vs. Cases as Tools of Learning: Results of Research at the University of Colorado." Training and Development Journal 21 (October 1967): 13-23.
- Morgan, Barton; Holmes, Glenn E.; and Bundy, Clarance E. Methods in Adult Education. Danville, Ill.: The Interstate Printers and Publishers, 1976.
- Most Veterans Not Completing Correspondence Courses--More Guidance Needed From the V.A. Report to Congress. Washington, D.C.: Comptroller General of the United States. 1972. 23 p. (ED 061 514)
- Museum Techniques in Fundamental Education. Paris: United Nations Educational Scientific, and Cultural Organization, 1970. 57 p. (ED 043 838)

- Neff, Monroe C., and Paterno, Elaine C. Using Real-Life Materials for the Culturally Disadvantaged. Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall, Inc., 19,2.
- Niemi, John A., ed. Mass Media and Adult Education. Englewood Cliffs,——N.J.: Educational Technology Publications, 1971.
- Olmstead, Joseph A. Theory and State of the Art of Small Group Methods of Instruction. Alexandria, Va.: Human Resources Research Organization, 1970. 57 p. (ED 040 845)
- Oliver, Leonard P. "The American Issues Forum." Adult Leadership 23 (March 1975): 261-270.
- Palmer, Robert E., and Verner, Coolie. "A Comparison of Three Instructional Techniques," *Processes of Adult Education*. Washington, D.C.: Adult Education Association of the U.S.A., 1965.
- Pellett, Vernon L. "The Comparative Effectiveness of the Educational Telephone Network and Face-to-Face Lectures for University Extension In-Service Training." Ph.D. dissertation, University of Wisconsin, 1969.
- Peters, John M. A Feasibility Study for Development of a Self-Instructional Training Kit for Teachers of Adult Basic Education. Knoxville, Tenn.: The University of Tennessee, 1971.
- Peterson, Bernadine H. Adult Education by Means of Telephone. Paper presented at the Adult Education Research Conference, 1970. 7 p. (ED 036 758)
- Pfeiffer, J. William, and Sabers, Darrell. Attrition and Achievement in Correspondence Study. National Home Study Council News, 1970. 2 p. (ED 036 707)
- Phillips, G. T. "Films vs. Videotapes in Educational Programs." Training and Development Journal 25 (April 1971): 39-42.
- Puzzouli, David A. A Study of Teaching University Extension Classes by Telelecture. West Virginia University, 1970. 73 p. (ED 042 961)
- Puzzouli, David A., and Fazzaro, Charles J. The Development of Telelecture and Associated Media Systems for tie Improvement of Nursing Education in West Virginia. West Virginia University, College of Human Resources and Education, 1971. 90 p. (ED 059 594)



- Rankin, Robert S.: Lassiter, Thomas: and Noel, Jim. "The Johnson County Forum." Adult Leadership 22 (October 1973): 141-143.
- Robinson, Jerry W., Jr., and Crittenden, William B. "Learning Modules: A Concept for Extension Educators?" *Journal of Extension* X (Winter 1972): 35-44.
- Robinson, Russell D. A Study of the Effects of Television Combined With Discussion Groups and Study Materials on the Changing of Attitudes in Social Issues. Paper presented at the Adult Education Research Conference, New York City, 1971. 17 p. (ED 049 415)
- Rogers, Samuel I. "A Comparative Analysis of the Individualized GED Instructional Program of Juneau, Alaska, to the Traditional GED Instructional Program of Anchorage, Alaska. Ph.D. dissertation, Kansas State University, 1973.
- Rogers, William C. "How Speakers' Bureaus Can be Used in Adult and Continuing Education." Adult Leadership 22 (December 1973): 211-213.
- Ross, Harvey L. An Evaluation of the Effectiveness of the Allen Teaching Machine at the Federal Corrections Institution, Lompoc, California. Los Angeles: Human Interaction Research Institute, 1970. 81 p. (ED 043 830)
- Roth, Robert A. "How Effective are CBTE Programs?" Phi Delta Kappan 58 (June 1977): 759.
- Rubin, Louis J., ed. Facts and Feelings in the Classroom. New York: The Viking Press, 1973.
- Ryan, T. Antoinette. "Research: Guide for Teaching Improvement."

 Improving College and University Teaching 17 (Autumn 1968): 270-276.
- Schiello, D. M. "How Interdisciplinary Training Pays Off." Training and Development Journal 29 (August 1975): 16-20.
- Schneeberger, Kenneth C. "Gaming as an Instrument of Farm Management Education--A Development and Evaluation." Ph.D. dissertation, Oklahoma State University, 1968. 214 p.
- Schriesheim, Chester A., and Yancy, Joseph P. "The Motivation of Business Game Participants: An Experimental Inquiry." *Training and Development Journal* 29 (August 1975): 11-15.
- Second Treasury of Teaching Techniques. Washington, D.C.: National Association for Public Continuing Adult Education, 1970.



- Sellman, Wayne S. Effectiveness of Experimental Training Materials for Low Ability Airmen. Brooks Air Force Base, Texas, 1970.
- Sharp, Robert B. Adult Learning and Counseling: Final Report. Cheyenne, Wyo., Laramie County Community College, 1972. 58 p. (ED 101 165)
- Smith, Eleanor T. "Your Library, A College Around the Corner."

 American Education 12 (January/February 1976): 14-19.
- Snyder, Robert E. Guide to Teaching Techniques for Adult Classes. Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall, Inc., 1972.
- Sparks, James A. "Helping Clergy Use Conflict Creatively." Adult Leadership 24 (February 1976): 203-204.
- Spitze, Hazel T. "New Ways to Teach Nutrition." Journal of Extension XIV (March/April 1976): 14-19.
- Stanford, Gene, and Roark, Albert E. Human Interaction in Education. Boston: Allyn and Bacon, Inc., 1974.
- Stattler, Larry L., and Juhl, R. J. "Farm Laboratory Aids Post-Secondary Instruction in Agricultural Production." *The Agricultural Education Magazire* 42 (April 1970): 261.
- Stenzel, Anne K., and Feeney, Helen M. Learning by the Case Method. New York: The Seabury Press, 1970.
- Stovall, Thomas F. "Lecture vs. Discussion." Social Education 20 (1956): 10-12.
- Studen: Taught Adult Basic <u>Literacy</u> Efforts. Final Report. Berea, Ky.: Berea College, 1972. 142 p. (ED 068 796)
- "Students Tutor Students: A New Approach in ESL." Techniques for Teachers of Adults XVII (January 1977): 2-3.
- Sulkin, Howard A. "Relationship Between Participant Personality and Teaching Methods in Management Training." Ph.D. dissertation, University of Chicago, 1969.
- Taylor, D. W.; Berry, P. L.; and Block, C. H. "Does Group Participation When Using Brainstorming Facilitate or Inhibit Creative Thinking?" Administrative Science Quarterly 3 (1958): 23-47.

- Taylor, Stephen S., and Jahns, Irwin R. The Effects of Microteaching for Attending Behaviors in Adult Testing, 1973. 19 p. (ED 094 108)
- Tested Techniques for Teaching Adults. Washington, D.C.: National Association for Public Continuing and Adult Education, 1972. 59 p. (ED 069 953)
- The RFD System. Madison, Wis.: University of Wisconsin--Extension,
- The Use of Modern Media in Adult Education. Tokyo: Japanese National Commission for UNESCO, 1972. 39 p. (ED 070 936)
- The Use of Mass Media in the Education of Adults Lusaka, Zambia, 1965. 131 p. (ED 024 881)
- Thompson, Orville E., and Tom, Frederick K. "Comparison of the Effectiveness of a Pupil-Centered Versus a Teacher-Centered Pattern for Teaching Vocational Agriculture." Journal of Educational Research 50 (1957): 667-668.
- Tipple, Maurice F. "More Realistic Role-Playing." Training and Development Journa? 28 (February 1974): 20-21.
- Toffler, Alvin. Future Shock. New York: Random House, 1970.
- Tough, Allen. Learning Without a Teacher: A Study of Tasks and Assistance During Adult Self-Teaching Projects. Toronto: Ontario Institute for Studies in Education, 1967.
- Urban Adult Basic Education Special Teacher Training Institute.
 Final Report. Los Angeles: Pepperdine College, Center for Urban
 Affairs, 1972. 56 p. (ED 101 122)
- Verner, Coolie. A Conceptual Scheme for the Identification and Classification of Processes. Washington, D.C.: Adult Education Association of the U.S.A., 1962.
- Verner, Coolie. "Definition of Terms." Adult Education: Outlines of an Emerging Field of University Study. Edited by Gale Jensen, et al. Washington, D.C.: Adult Education Association of the U.S.A., 1964.
- "Video Tape Helps Train Consumer Personnel." Training and Development Journal 29 (September 1975): 13-15.



- Weinhold, Clyde E. "Individualized Instruction." Mat wials and Methods in Adult Education. Los Angeles: Klevens Publishing, 1972.
- What is the Open University? A Brief Explanation. Walton, Bletchley, Bucks (England), 1974. 36 p. (ED 111 264)
- Willsey, Frank R. "An Experimental Study of an Adult Learning Situation Involving Three Levels of Training in the Group Discussion Process." Adult Education Dissertation Abstracts, 1935-1962. Edited by Stanley M. Grabowski. Syracuse University: ERIC Clearinghouse on Adult Education, 1973. 448 p. (ED 069 967)
- Wilson, Brad. "Presenting College Level Courses in Remote Communities."

 Adult Leadership 25 (December 1976): 112.
- Wolf, Betty, and Wolf, Umhau. "A Look at Pre-Retirement Planning in the Laboratory Method." Adult Leadership 24 (February 1976): 206-208.